I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in giving Court's Instruction No. 10, 

which was an " Unavoidable Accident" instruction when the facts and

circumstances of the case did not warrant such an instruction. ( See

Appendix No. 1— Court's Instruction No. 10). 

2. The trial court erred in failing to grant judgment as a matter

of law on the issue of defendant Paul's negligence. 

3. The trial court erred by entering a judgment severally when

under the terms of RCW 4.22.070( 1)( b) the verdict should have been joint

and several with respect to two codefendants when the plaintiffs in the

action as a matter of law were fault free. 

4. The trial court erred in providing codefendant Paul the

benefit of Ron Smelser's " parental immunity" which he waved by failing

to appear in the action thus subjecting himself to an Order of Default. 

5. The trial court erred in dismissing Ronald Smelser from the

case when there was no evidence he breached an actionable duty. 

6. The trial court erred in admitting a medical record

containing unattributed hearsay statements regarding the facts and

circumstances of the accident. 

7. The trial court erred by refusing to consider plaintiffs

Motion for Judgment as a matter of law because it erroneously believed
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that it was bound by a different judge' s earlier summary judgment

decision. 

II. ISSUES

1. Did the trial court err in failing to grant judgment as a matter of

law at the close of the evidence on the issue of defendant Pauls' 

negligence, parental immunity and the potential liability of the plaintiffs

father, Ron Smelser, who breached no actionable duty? 

2. Did the trial court err by entering judgment essentially " severally" 

when, despite plaintiff's objections Ron Smelser, the father of the

plaintiffs, was included in the verdict form and assigned a 50% allocation

of fault by the jury? 

3. Did the trial court err in admitting a medical record containing

unattributable hearsay statements regarding the facts and circumstances of

the accident when the foundation for the admission of such evidence was

lacking? 

4. Did the trial court err in refusing to consider plaintiff's motion for

judgment as a matter of law at the close of the evidence based on an

erroneous belief that it was bound by a prior trial court judge' s summary

judgment determination? 
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III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Historical Background of Case

This case arises out of an April 16, 1998 auto vs. pedestrian

collision which occurred in the driveway of Ronald Smelser's rental home

located in Orting, Pierce County, Washington. Also residing at

Mr. Smelser's Orting residence was Derrick Smelser, Date of

Birth: August 10, 1995 ( 2 years old) and his older brother Dillon, Date of

Birth: January 29, 1993 ( 5 years old). The rental house sat on a relatively

large piece of property. On April 16, 1998 Ronald Smelser had a dating

relationship with defendant Jeanne Paul. Late in the afternoon on

April 16th Ms. Paul, who was driving a lifted Ford Bronco, arrived at the

Smelser's residence to visit Ronald Smelser. At the time of her arrival, 

Ronald was working on a car in the driveway area, and young Derrick and

Dillon were playing in the adjacent field. Ms. Paul visited Ronald for a

time, went in and out of the house and to the car Ronald was working on. 

While Ron Smelser and the defendant were visiting, Derrick left the field

and began playing in a mud puddle in the middle of the driveway making

mud pies ". 

Ms. Paul, after a period of time, returned to her vehicle and at a

rapid rate of speed accelerated down the driveway. For inexplicable

reasons, she had failed to observe that Derrick was playing in a mud
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puddle in the middle of the driveway. As observed by Derrick's brother, 

Dillon, who saw the entire accident, as Ms. Paul proceeded down the

driveway and she ran directly over Derrick, trapping him beneath the

vehicle. 

Dillon was the only eyewitness to the events surrounding the

accident. According to Dillon, after Ms. Paul arrived at the Smelser's

Orting residence Derrick went from the adjacent field to begin playing in

the mud located in the residence driveway. ( RP 1306). According to

Dillon, as Ms. Paul reentered her Bronco to leave that day Derrick was

standing in the middle of the driveway and Ms. Paul drove directly over

him, trapping Derrick underneath her Bronco. ( RP 1309 -10). Dillon

screamed and began running towards the truck. ( Id). Alerted by Dillon's

screams, Ron Smelser was able to observe Derrick trapped underneath

Ms. Paul's Bronco. 

Ron Smelser was alerted to the fact that his son Derrick had just

been run over by Ms. Paul's Bronco by Dillon's screams. ( RP 304). In

response he grabbed Derrick, placed him in one of his automobiles and

promptly tried to acquire emergency medical aid for him. ( Derrick's

forehead had been torn open exposing bone). Mr. Smelser, who was also

accompanied by Dillon, first took Derrick to a nearby urgent care which
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indicated that it could not help him and he was directed to take Derrick to

Mary Bridge Hospital. 

Inexplicably, the records generated from this visit to Mary Bridge

Hospital created a substantial amount of confusion during the course of

trial. The " Emergency Room Services Note" from that visit provides: 

Derrick is a 3- year -old male who was brought in by his
father with possible head injury and scalp laceration. He is
a usually healthy child who was playing on the front
bumper of a raised 4x4 truck which was being driven by his
father's girlfriend. She did not know he was there and
accelerated forward. He let go, actually tumbled under the
truck a couple of times, not getting injured by the wheels. 
When he came out from under the truck after having landed
on the gravel road, however, his father noticed a large scalp
laceration and rushed him in the car to the emergency
department. The father states he has been normal on the

way here, although he seems to be falling asleep. The

accident was not really witnessed by anyone. The only
injuries seem to be the upper body and head. The patient is
moving all ofhis extremities. The patient last ate at 11: 30. 
Ex. 119) (Appendix No. 2). 

The author of this note, Margaret Hood M.D., was called to testify

at time of trial. Dr. Hood could not attribute the statements regarding the

facts surrounding the accident to any particular individual, and nor could it

be explained how the details of the accident could have been somehow

relayed to her given the fact that according to the note " the accident was

really not witnessed by anyone ". (RP 952). 
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Similarly, a consultation note by a plastic surgeon, Dr. Thomas

Griffith M.D., provided similar unattributed historical information

regarding the accident, " Derrick is a 3- year -old male who apparently on

the front bumper of a car when it was moving, he fell off, and the car ran

over him without actually crushing him." ( Ex. 124A). Dr. Griffith also

was called at time of trial and could not explain what or who the source of

this information was but it likely was just repeated information from the

emergency room services note. (RP 1047). 

Ms. Paul was called as an adverse witness at the time of trial. 

Ms. Paul admitted that she knew that there were two small boys in the area

at the time she began her drive to exit the Smelser property. ( RP 661). 

She had no personal knowledge with respect to any allegation that Derrick

was actually on her bumper at the time or immediately prior to her running

him over. ( Id., P. 670). Ms. Paul provided testimony which strongly

showed that she had initially backed her vehicle and continued to be

looking to the rear at the time she began moving forward striking Derrick. 

RP 680 -81). 

Subsequent to the accident Dillon was diagnosed as suffering from

post - traumatic stress disorder as a byproduct of witnessing the injury to

his brother. 
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B. Procedural History

This case was filed on October 25, 2011, initially with Ms. Paul as

the sole defendant.' ( CP 1 - 5). 

Following substantial discovery the appellants ( hereafter plaintiffs) 

moved for summary judgment on the issues of liability, comparative fault, 

and the existence of any empty chair defenses. ( CP 23 -49; CP 50 -114). 

Specifically, it was argued that as a " matter of law" that neither Derrick

nor Dillon given that they were below the age of 6 could be found

contributorily or comparatively at fault. Plaintiff also argued that given

that Ronald Smelser would be entitled to " parental immunity" he could not

be an empty chair. Finally it was argued that the evidence established as a

matter of law that Ms. Paul had been negligent. Id. 

Defendant Paul opposed plaintiffs' motion. ( CP 127 -139). 

Ms. Paul disputed plaintiffs' contention that she was liable as a matter of

law and argued that even though the children were incapable of

contributory fault that their actions could be the " sole proximate cause" of

the injury- producing event. Additionally it was argued that even if

Mr. Smelser was entitled to " parental immunity" that he nevertheless

1 While generally this is a personal injury action governed by the three year Statute of
Limitation applicable to such claims, RCW 4. 16. 080, the applicable Statute of Limitation
was tolled due to the plaintiffs minority under the terms of RCW 4. 16. 190( 1). Thus, 

both Dillon and Derrick had until their 21st birthday to bring this action against Ms. Paul. 
There was and is no issue in this case with respect to Statutes ofLimitation. 
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could be subject to a fault allocation under the terms of RCP 4.22.070

which, according to the trial court was permissible because if he was

entitled to parental immunity he would be a" immune entity" towards

whom fault could be allocated. See RCP 4.22.070( 1). The trial court's

order granting in part and denying in part plaintiffs' motion for summary

judgment provided: 

ORDERED as follows: 

1. That the plaintiffs, Derrick Smelser and Dillon
Smelser, who were 2 1/ 2 and 5 years old of age at the time

of the accident at issue, are incapable of comparative or

contributory fault and plaintiffs' motion for partial

summary judgment re comparative /contributory fault of
plaintiffs is hereby GRANTED; however, the trier of fact
will determine whether the contact of the plaintiff Derrick

Smelser was a cause in fact of accident deeming the
accident unavoidable; 

2. That there are genuine issues of material fact as to

defendant Jeanne Paul's negligence for the accident at issue

and plaintiffs' motion for partial summary judgment as to
liability is DENIED; 
3. That there are genuine issues of material fact as to

non -party Ron Smelser' s negligence for the accident at
issues and plaintiffs' motion for partial summary judgment
striking the defendant's affirmative defense as to this
non-party is DENIED; 
4. That there was been no showing of willful or
wanton conduct on the part of non -party Ron Smelser, the
father of the plaintiffs, and he would be entitled to assert

parental immunity from suit by his two sons, the plaintiffs
herein, however, while Mr. Smelser is entitled to assert

immunity from pursuit by his children, the court does find
that Ron Smelser is a potential non -party at fault whose
negligence, if any, is to be determined by the trier of fact, 
pursuant to RCW 4.22.070. That any percent of fault
attributed by the trier of fact to Mr. Smelser shall be
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reduced from the total amount of the verdict, if any. 
emphasis added). ( CP 246 -248). ( Appendix No. 3). 

Promptly following the entry of this order plaintiffs sought

reconsideration /or revision as it related to the question of whether nor not

Ronald Smelser, despite potential parental immunity could be an entity

towards whom fault could be allocated under the terms of

RCW 4.22.070( 1) ( CP 251 -265). On reconsideration plaintiffs argued that

Ron Smelser if he was entitled to " parental immunity" could not be a party

towards whom " fault" within the meaning of RCW 4.22.015 could be

attributed to. Plaintiff reasoned that " parental immunity" is simply a

shorthand indication that a parent breaches no actionable duty and that

there is no tort of "negligent parental supervisor" recognized within the

State of Washington. Similarly it was pointed out that to recognize such

tort would be contrary to the terms of RCW 4.22.020 which precludes the

imputation of negligence of a parent onto that of a child. Plaintiff urged

the court to recognize that by reducing a verdict in favor of a child because

of parental negligence would be nothing more than imputation of parental

fault. Id. 

On December 7, 2012 the trial court denied plaintiffs' motion for

reconsideration. In response plaintiffs, had no choice, but to amend their

compliant to include a claim against Ronald Smelser as a defendant. ( CP
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289 -290) Following service of the amended complaint upon Mr. Smelser, 

he ultimately defaulted and an order of default was entered by the trial

court.2 ( CP 293 -302; 337 -338; 329 -332; 339 -347; 364 -365). 

Trial in this matter commenced on June 2, 2014 and concluded on

July 1, 2014 with a jury verdict in favor of Derrick Smelser and in favor of

defendant Paul with respect to Dillon's claim for bystander negligent

infliction of emotional distress. ( CP 1644 - 1646). 

Prior to verdict and at the close of all the evidence plaintiffs' 

counsel moved for a directed verdict on a variety of issues. ( CP 1495- 

1592). Unfortunately, the trial judge, Judge Stolz believed that she was

bound by the previous trial judge's summary judgment order, denied

plaintiffs' motion for a directed verdict on the issues of Mr. Smelser's

liability. (RP 56 -60; 1636 - 1637). And in particular plaintiff argued that the

court should grant a directed verdict on the issue of whether or not this

was an " unavoidable accident ". The court declined to rule on that issue as

a matter of law instead finding that it was a jury question. 

2 In plaintiffs' amended complaint it was made clear that the only reason that Ronald
Smelser was being named as a defendant in his children's case was the fact that " he was
identified by the defendant Paul as being an entity at fault for plaintiffs' injuries and in
order to preserve joint and several liability." As discussed below it is plaintiffs' position

that even if we assume that there could be an argument that Ronald Smelser was
negligent in the supervision of his children there is no cause of action for negligent

supervision of children by a parent in the State of Washington. 
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Following the denial of plaintiffs' motion for a directed verdict the

court heard exceptions to jury instructions. Plaintiffs' counsel specifically

excepted to the court's giving of the court' s Instruction No. 10 which

included language regarding " unavoidable accident" because the giving of

such instruction was and is disfavored, and was unsupported by the facts

of this case which clearly indicated that it was the type of accident that

would only have occurred had some individual been negligent. ( RP 1652) 

Appendix No. 1). Plaintiff also excepted to court's Instruction No. 12

which included Ronald Smelser in the case and as an individual toward

whom fault could be allocated. ( Id., 1653). 

Based on the court's instructions the jury entered a rather

parsimonious verdict in this case awarding Derrick Smelser $30,225.40 in

general and special damages and Dillon Smelser nothing on his PTSD

claim. The jury allocated fault amongst defendant Paul and Ronald

Smelser on a 50/ 50 percentage basis. ( Appendix No. 4). 

Despite the fact that at the defendant's behest Ronald Smelser was

a named party in this case and he was allocated fault in the court's jury

verdict, the Court refused to enter a verdict against him ignoring "joint and

several" liability principles still encapsulated within RCW 4.22.070, and

entered a judgment against Jeanne Paul only in the amount of $15, 112. 70 - 
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50% of the verdict. ( CP 1644 - 1646). ( Appendix No. 5). This appeal

followed. (CP 1679 - 1684). 

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standards of Review

A trial court's decision regarding jury instructions are reviewed de

novo if they are based on matters of law, or for an abuse of discretion, if

they are based on matters of fact. See Kappelman v. Lutz, 167 Wn.2d 1, 6, 

217 P.3d, 289 ( 2009). Jury instructions are sufficient when they allow

counsel to argue those juries of the case, do not mislead the jury, and when

taken as a whole properly inform the jury of the law to be applied. 

Thompson v. King Feed Nutrition Serv., Inc., 152 Wn.2d 447, 453, 105

P. 3d 378 ( 2005). Giving an instruction which contains an erroneous

statement of the applicable law is a reversible error when a prejudice to

the party. Thompson, 153 Wn.2d App. 453. A jury instruction is deemed

to be prejudicial if it substantially affects the outcome of a case. See, 

RWR Mgmt., Inc. v. Citizen's Realty Co., 133 Wn.App. 265, 278, 135 P.3d

955 ( 2006). When the record discloses an error in an instruction given on

behalf of the party whose favor the verdict was returned, the error is

presumed to have been prejudicial and it furnishes a ground for reversal

unless it firmly appears that it was harmless. Mackay v. Acorn Custom

Cabinetry, Inc., 127 Wn.2d 302, 311, 898 P.2d 284 ( 1985). This is
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particularly so when it affects the burden of proof. Id. A "harmless error" 

is an error which is trivial, formal or merely academic, and was not

prejudicial to the interest, rights of a party asserting it and in no way

affects the final outcome of a case. Id. When a trial court provides an

instruction which fails to properly set forth the party's burden of proof, or

alters in any way the elements of the claim, such an error is presumptually

prejudicial and supplies a ground for reversal. Id. A new trial is an

appropriate remedy for a prejudicial error in jury instructions. See

Furfaro v. City ofSeattle, 144 Wn.2d 363, 382, 27 P.3d 1160 ( 2001). 

When fashioning instructions a trial court should take great care to

account for the dangers of unduly emphasizing any portion of the

testimony, or one side's theory of the case versus another. See State v. 

Monroe, 107 Wn.App. 637, 27 P.3d 1249 ( 2011). Instructions must be

supported by the evidence and not mere speculation. Hoffman v. Damach, 

1 Wn.App. 833, 465 P.2d 203 ( 1970). It is prejudicial error to give an

instruction not supported by the evidence. Midill v. Los Angeles Sea Otter

Motor Express, Inc., 64 Wn.2d 548, 392 P.2d 821 ( 1964). 

Here, as discussed below, it was both legal and factual error for the

trial court to give an " unavoidable accident" instruction in this case. 

CR 50, under the heading of "Motions for Judgment as a Matter of

Law and Actions Tried by a Jury," states in its relevant part as follows: 
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1) Nature and Effect of Motion. If, during trial by jury, a
party has been fully heard with respect to an issue and there
is no legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable
jury to have found for that party with respect to that issue, 
the court may grant a motion for judgment as a matter of
law against the party on any claim, counterclaim, cross
claim, or third-party claim that cannot under the controlling
law be maintained without a favorable finding on that issue. 
Such a motion shall specify the judgment and the law and
facts on which the moving party is entitled to the judgment. 
A motion for judgment as a matter of law which is not

granted is not a waiver of trial by jury even though all
parties to the action have moved for judgment as a matter

of law. 

2) When Made. A motion for judgment as a matter of

law may be made at any time before submission of the case
to the jury. 

Judgment as a matter of law is appropriate where " a party has been

fully heard on the issue during a jury trial and the Court finds that a

reasonable jury would not have legally sufficient evidentiary basis to find

for the party on a specific issue." See, CR 50( a). See also, Anderson v. 

Liberty Lobby, 47 U.S. 242, 251 ( 1986) ( a court need not submit an issue

to the jury when there is no evidence " upon which a jury could properly

proceed to find a verdict for the party producing it, on whom the onus of

proof is imposed "), ( citations omitted). When " there is no substantial

evidence to support a claim, i.e., only one conclusion can be drawn, the

court must direct a verdict." Los Angeles Memorial Coliseum Commission

v. NFL, 726 F.2d 1381, 1387 ( 9th Cir. 1984). A mere scintilla of evidence
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is not sufficient to present a question for the jury. See, Westinghouse

Electrical Corp. v. CX Processing Labs, Inc., 523 F.2d 668, 673 ( 9th Cir. 

1975) ( affirming granted judgment as a matter of law and stating

substantial evidence is more than a mere scintilla "). The quantum of

evidence necessary is defined in Hojem v. Kelly, 93 Wn.2d 143 ( 1980) 

which provides as follows: 

There must be substantial evidence as

distinguished from a mere scintilla of
evidence to support the verdict, i. e., evidence

of a character: ` which would convince an

unprejudiced, thinking mind of

the truth of the fact in which the evidence is
directed.' A verdict cannot be founded upon

mere theory or speculation. 

A motion for judgment as a matter of law is considered under the

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