FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2015 MAY -7 PM 1: 06

STATE OF WARNINGTON

3Y____

NO. 46509-4-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

DILLON SMELSER, individually AND DERRICK SMELSER, individually

Appellants

vs.

JEANNE PAUL, individually

Respondent

and

RONALD SMELSER, individually

Defendant

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

SLOAN BOBRICK, P.S. By: Joanne Henry, WSBA #6798 Attorneys for Respondent Paul 7610 – 40th Street West University Place, WA 98466 (253) 759-9500

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

C. <u>Judgment Was Properly Entered Only Against Jeanne Paul for Her Proportionate Share of Fault As Found by the Jury</u>

Ronald Smelser appeared and testified at trial, and neither expressly waived nor expressly asserted his parental immunity, nor did either party ask him about the subject. (RP 287-333, 540-649) At the conclusion of the evidence, plaintiff's argued that Ronald had waived his parental immunity by failing to plead it as an affirmative defense to the Amended Complaint, in the context of asserting that his default prevented Jeanne Paul from allocating fault to him. (CP 1506-1508, RP 1620, 1624, 1629-1630) However, when it

came time to frame the jury instructions on the parties' claims and parties' burdens of proof, plaintiffs <u>expressly elected</u> to continue to not make a claim against Ronald Smelser.

Jeanne Paul submitted alternative proposed instructions based on whether or not plaintiffs were making a negligence claim against their father based on his supposed waiver of parental immunity. (Proposed Instructions No. 6 and 23 on burden of proof: CP 1811, 1472 and Proposed Instructions No. 33 and 34 on parties' claims: CP 1594, 1495) Paul's counsel explained to the court that it was unclear from plaintiffs' arguments and instruction submissions whether a claim was being made against Ronald Smelser. (CP 1460, RP 1596) Plaintiffs' counsel responded that Ronald was not negligent, and that plaintiffs were not contending that he was. (RP 1598, 1600-1602) The full colloquy on this matter is reproduced as Appendix A hereto.

The Court elected not to give a "parties' claims" Instruction (RP 1671-1672), but gave defendant's proposed No. 6 on the parties' burdens of proof as Court's Instruction No. 12, attached hereto as Appendix B, instructing that Jeanne Paul alleged that Ronald Smelser was negligent and assigning to her the burden of proof. (CP 1632-1633, RP 1642) Plaintiffs excepted to Court's Instruction No. 12 solely on the basis that it allowed Jeanne Paul to allege and prove negligence against Ronald Smelser, not

because it did not address their own claim against him. (RP 1653) In accordance with the burden of proof Instruction, in closing argument to the jury, plaintiffs argued repeatedly that Ronald Smelser was not negligent and that Jeanne Paul was 100% at fault. (CP 1616-1617, RP 1725, 1800-1801, 1814)

The jury returned its verdict by answering the questions on the Special Verdict Form, finding both Jeanne Paul and Ronald Smelser negligent, assigning 50% fault to each, and awarding Derrick total damages of \$30,225.40. (CP 1644-1646) Judgment was entered only against Jeanne Paul for her half of Derrick's damages. (CP 1686-1688)

The Judgment was correct in accordance with the way the case was tried, and submitted to and decided by the jury. Even if the trial court were to find that Ronald Smelser had waived his parental immunity to allow his sons to recover against him for mere negligence, no Judgment could properly be entered against him. This case presents the same scenario as Mailloux v. State Farm. 76 Wn.App. 507, 511-512, 887 P.2d 449 (1995), which explained the operation of RCW 4.22.070 in this context:

"Under that statute, any party to a proceeding can assert that another person is at fault. Only the plaintiff, however, can assert that another person is <u>liable</u> to the plaintiff.

If the plaintiff proves fault that is the proximate cause of

plaintiff's damages, the person at fault is also liable to the plaintiff, and judgment is entered as set forth in the statute. If a party other than the plaintiff proves fault that is a proximate cause of the plaintiff's damages, the person at fault is not liable to the plaintiff—the plaintiff has made no claim against him or her—but his or her fault nevertheless operates to reduce the 'proportionate share' of damages from those against whom the plaintiff has claimed."

[emphasis added, internal citations omitted]

Under the current Tort Reform statute, "joint and several" liability in favor of fault-free plaintiffs, such as extremely young children, can only exist if there are two or more "defendants against whom judgment is entered." RCW 4.22.070(1)(b). "A person is not liable to the plaintiff at all, much less jointly and severally," if he not been named as a potentially liable party by the plaintiff, who then must prove fault. Mailloux at 513. Since plaintiffs made no claim against Ronald Smelser, they could not take a Judgment against him based on Paul's allegation and proof of his fault. Therefore, there can be no "joint and several" liability, and Paul was only subject to Judgment for her 50% "proportionate share" of Derrick's damages as found by the jury.

D. <u>If There Was Error in the Way Ronald Smelser's Fault Was Handled, the Remedy on Appeal is to Amend the Judgment to Assign His 50% of Derrick's Damages to Jeanne Paul</u>

Appellants have not stated in their Brief what relief they believe they are entitled to for the alleged error regarding Ronald Smelser's parental immunity and allocation of fault to him. While, of course, Jeanne Paul does

not believe that the trial court's rulings on these matters were erroneous in any respect, if this Court finds error, the only appropriate remedy is to direct that the Judgment be amended to assign Ronald Smelser's one-half of Derrick's damages to Jeanne Paul. No new trial on either liability or damages is warranted.

No error in the immunity and fault allocation issues could have had any possible effect on the jury's determination of the amount of Derrick's total recoverable damages or its decision that Jeanne Paul's (and Ronald Smelser's) negligence was not a proximate cause of injury or damage to Dillon. In particular, the jury was instructed on the elements which Dillon needed to prove to recover on his "bystander" emotional distress claim, and no error has been assigned to this Instruction. (CP 1639) In finding no proximate cause, the jury obviously simply found that Dillon had failed to prove this claim. This had nothing to do with the fact that the jury was asked to assess whether his father was negligent along with Jeanne Paul.

E. The Issue of Jeanne Paul's Negligence Was Properly Submitted to the Jury, and Any Error in Failing to Direct a Verdict Was Harmless Because the Jury Found Her to Be Negligent

As set forth at pages 3-6 above, both Jeanne Paul and Ronald Smelser testified at trial that Derrick was not in a place where he could reasonably have been seen or where Paul had reason to expect him to be as she drove her

vehicle forward and collided with the child. This was supported by the medical history appearing in the Mary Bridge ER record and Jeanne Paul's testimony of what Dillon told her shortly after the accident about Derrick's "skiing" actions in front of the truck.

The jury was properly instructed as to the duty of care owed by a driver to a child pedestrian. (CP 1631) The driver is not negligent simply because she collided with the child. The duty to avoid the collision arises when the driver sees or in the exercise of ordinary care should have seen the child in proximity to the vehicle. Larson v. Puvallup School District. 7 Wn.App. 736, 741, 502 P.2d 1258 (1972); LaMoreaux v. Fosket. 45 Wn.2d 249, 255-256, 273 P.2d 795 (1954) If the driver has no reason to anticipate that the child is near the vehicle, she is not required to take extraordinary measures such as looking under the car, and is not negligent simply because she started the vehicle and struck the child. LaMoreaux, supra at 259-260.

Here, in addition to the evidence that after the last time Jeanne Paul and Ronald Smelser saw both boys in the field behind the house immediately before Paul got in her truck to leave, Derrick somehow got himself positioned directly in front of the large hood where he could not be seen from the driver's seat, there was also testimony that neither boy was in the habit of greeting or saying goodbye to Jeanne Paul or coming around her vehicle.

(RP754, 759, 761) She thus had no reason to anticipate that Derrick would come in from the field and closely approach her truck just as she started to leave.

Plaintiffs were certainly entitled to <u>argue</u> to the jury, based on Dillon's rather incredible testimony, that Derrick was standing in plain view in the middle of the driveway in front of Jeanne Paul's truck and that she was negligent in failing to see him and "running him down." They could and did also argue that her "admission" that she was factually "responsible" for the accident because she was driving the vehicle was an acknowledgment that she was at fault. They are not, however, entitled to ask the court to ignore her and Ronald Smelser's testimony that Derrick was not "there to be seen" and that Derrick's actions in placing himself in harm's way were unexpected and unpredictable. Ronald Smelser himself testified that did not believe that Jeanne Paul was at fault in the accident. (RP 551)

Plaintiff correctly acknowledge that a motion for judgement as a matter of law admits the truth of the opponent's evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom, quoting from <u>Goodman v. Goodman</u>, 128 Wn.2d 366, 907 P.2d 290 (1995). That should be the end of the inquiry on this argument, since Jeanne Paul's evidence that she had exercised reasonable care was more than sufficient to take that issue to the jury.

Even if the trial court erred in not directing a verdict on Jeanne Paul's negligence, any such error was clearly harmless, since the jury evaluated the conflicting evidence and found that she was negligent and a proximate cause of the injury to Derrick. As the court succinctly ruled in Saleemi v. Doctor's Associates, Inc., 176 Wn.2d 368, 380, 292 P.3d 108 (2013):

"[E]rror without prejudice is not ground for reversal... Error will not be considered prejudicial unless it affects or presumptively affects the outcome of the trial." [internal citations omitted]

F. <u>Instruction No. 10, Which Included Instruction on "Unavoidable Accident," Was Properly Given</u>

Court's Instruction No. 10 instructed the jury, in the terms of WPI 11.03, that children under the age of six are incapable of contributory negligence, and that there was no such issue as to Dillon or Derrick. The remainder of the instruction was based on the holding of Larson v. Puyallup School District, supra, that an accident could be solely caused by the spontaneous, unpredictable behavior of the child victim so as to render the accident unavoidable as to the defendant:

"Even though the child's age prevents application of the contributory negligence doctrine, it does not follow that negligence and proximate cause have been established against either defendant. As stated above, the jury could reasonably have ascertained that because of the child's own actions, the accident was unavoidable as to the defendants."

Id. at 743

It is true that the Supreme Court Committee on Jury Instructions recommends in the Comment to WPI 12.03 that <u>ordinarily</u> no instruction on "unavoidable accident" should be given. However, a party is entitled to an instruction if it is supported by substantial evidence and is necessary for the party to argue her theory of the case. <u>Farm Crop Energy v. Old National Bank</u>, 109 Wn.2d 923, 750 P.2d 231 (1988). Here, Jeanne Paul needed this instruction to counter the danger that the jury would improperly assume that because Derrick could not be "negligent" in the accident, he could not be the <u>cause in fact</u> of the accident, and to argue her theory of the case that because of his actions, she could not reasonably have avoided the collision.

The case law approving the giving of an instruction on unavoidable accident or similar instruction supports the giving of Instruction No. 10 here. Cooper v. Pay-n-Save Drugs, 59 Wn.2d 829, 371 P.2d 43 (1962) catalogs many of the cases to that date regarding giving and refusing such an instruction. Cooper held that "It is proper to give the instruction if there is affirmative evidence that an unavoidable accident occurred." Id. at 835. The more recent case of Zook v. Baer, 9 Wn.App. 708, 715, 514 P.2d 923 (1973) likewise held that "When the evidence would support a jury finding that there was no negligence on the part of either party, the instruction may properly be

given."

The cases considering unavoidable accident make it clear that the evidence required to support the instruction is not evidence which compels such a conclusion, but only that the evidence supports a finding that the accident occurred without negligence on the part of the participants. See: Zook, supra.

In fact, many of the cases where the instruction was approved have involved young children who are incapable of contributory negligence, and whose unpredictable conduct may have caused the accident without negligence by the adult driver. See: Rettig v. Coca-Cola Bottling, 22 Wn.2d 572, 582, 156 P.2d 914 (1945), a four-year old child "dart out" case: the jury "could conclude" that the driver and parent exercised reasonable care, while the child could not legally be negligent when he stepped out from behind a bus in front of the driver. "In view of this situation, it was proper to instruct the jury on the subject of unavoidable accident."

Carraway v. Johnson, 63 Wn.2d 212, 386 P.2d 420 (1963) involved a two and a half year old child, where it was disputed whether the child had been in the street for a sufficient time for the driver to see him or ran into the street so quickly he could not have been seen in time. Under such circumstances, giving an unavoidable accident instruction is within the sound

discretion of the court:

"Our examination of the record leads us to conclude that there was evidence showing or justifying an inference that this accident occurred without having been proximately caused by negligence of the defendant [driver.] Where an accident seems to have been proximately caused by the acts of a child too young to be tagged with contributory negligence, the accident may be considered to have been 'unavoidable' for purposes of giving the otherwise dubious unavoidable- accident instruction."

Id. at 215, citing to Rettig, supra

See also: Orme v. Watkins, 44 Wn.2d 325, 330, 267 P.2d 681 (1954), where the young child, incapable of negligence, suddenly entered the intersection and the evidence conflicted as to whether the driver had a green or red light. The court approved a fact-based instruction similar to "unavoidable accident," which allowed the defendant to argue her theory that the accident was unavoidable because of the child's unpredictable action.

The present case is precisely the kind of situation where the trial court had discretion to give an instruction which includes a discussion of "unavoidable accident." There is no requirement, as suggested by plaintiffs (Brief, page 45), that the evidence show that the accident was caused by something other than the actions of the human participants, eg: an "Act of God." See: <u>Brewer v. Berner</u>, 15 Wn.2d 644, 648, 131 P.2d 940 (1942), identified by <u>Cooper</u>, <u>supra</u> as containing "the best statement of the rule," that

unavoidable accident "means an accident that could not have been prevented by the exercise of due care on the part of the human actors involved."

Where the child participant is incapable of negligence (has no duty to exercise care), that half of the evaluation is satisfied, leaving only the requirement for evidence to support a conclusion that the adult involved exercised all the care required of her under the circumstances. This is precisely how Instruction No. 10 is worded. Since the evidence at trial allowed the jury to find that Derrick unexpectedly put himself in a position so close to the front of Jeanne Paul's truck that she could not see him as she went to drive forward, and ordinary care does not require a driver to get out and look under and around the vehicle for children she has no reason expect to be there, the jury <u>could</u> have concluded that the accident was "unavoidable." The trial court did not abuse its discretion in giving Instruction No.10.

However, just as with the previously discussed issue on failure to direct a verdict on negligence, the jury did in fact find Jeanne Paul to have been negligent. Therefore, they clearly did not draw the conclusion permitted but not required by Instruction No. 10, that the accident was unavoidable, so any error in giving that Instruction was harmless. "An erroneous jury instruction is harmless if it is 'not prejudicial to the substantial rights of a the

part[ies] and in no way affected the final outcome of the case." <u>Blaney v. Internat'l Assoc. of Machinists</u>, 151 Wn.2d 203, 211, 87 P.3d 757 (2004). No prejudice is presumed, or demonstrable, where the party against whom the erroneous instruction was given ultimately prevailed on the issue. Id.

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